THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

**RECEIVED**

AUG 16 2019

WCC File No. 1116698  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001294

**SC Court of Appeals**

Ex Parte: Robert Horne, as Personal  
Representative of the Estate of Gus A. King,  
and Laura King ..... Appellants,

In Re: Gus A. King, Claimant, ..... Appellant,

v.

Pierside Boatworks, Employer,  
and PA Manufacturers Assn. Ins. Co., Carrier, ..... Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

J. Gary Christmas # 13467  
Reese M. Stidham, IV # 74996  
HOWELL AND CHRISTMAS, LLC  
P.O. Box 1896  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465  
(843) 849-2800

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether basic contract law applies in workers' compensation cases such that a signed agreement to settle a case is enforceable even though the claimant died before the formal document that would officially end litigation could be signed and filed with the commission.

### INTRODUCTION

This is an attempt to enforce a written agreement to settle a workers' compensation case. The agreement was signed at the conclusion of a successful mediation. The claimant died seven days after mediation in an unrelated car wreck.

After the claimant's death, the employer and its insurance carrier argued they had the right to back out of the agreement because the formal document that would officially end the litigation had not been signed and filed with the commission. The commission agreed with that argument, though the exact scope of the commission's holding is partly unclear.

The claimant's widow and his estate believe the agreement is enforceable for three basic reasons. First, nothing in the Workers' Compensation Act displaces basic contract law under which the agreement would plainly be enforceable. Second, the reasons the commission gave for not enforcing the agreement are legally incorrect and do not make sense. Third, persuasive authority supports enforcement. Though there is a split of authority, enforcement is the better view.

All of this ultimately boils down to promoting certainty. A key reason—if not *the* key reason—people go to the mediation table is to trade the unpredictability of litigation for the confidence of a deal. Giving parties the right to walk away after they signed on the dotted line has no sound basis in law and is bad for everyone. This Court should reverse.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an injury that occurred back in November of 2011. (Clmt. APA 1, p.22). Gus King was working on a large forklift when the engine unexpectedly engaged and the forklift ran over him. (Id.p.2). He miraculously survived, but he suffered horrific injuries. His list of injuries spans a full page of the order awarding him permanent and total disability benefits. (Id.p.22).

The commission made the permanent and total disability award in May of 2014. (Id.pp.1-30). In addition to total and permanent disability benefits, which were paid in a lump sum, the award included extensive ongoing medical benefits to which Mr. King was entitled for the rest of his life. (Id.pp.25-26, ¶¶12 & 13).

Two years later, in June of 2016, the parties participated in mediation to see whether they could settle all remaining parts of the claim. (Clmt. 3/29/18 PHB pp.3-4, ¶6). If successful, a settlement would end the employer and carrier's ongoing obligation to provide Mr. King with medical benefits. *Id.* The case would be closed completely.

The mediation *was* successful. The parties and the mediator signed an "agreement following mediation conference" requiring the employer and carrier to pay Mr. King \$1,000,000. (Clmt. APA 2). The agreement explained "this case has been fully and finally settled," that Mr. King's employer-provided medical coverage would remain in place until the settlement check was delivered to Mr. King's attorney, and that the employer and carrier would prepare a formal "Agreement and Release" for Mr. King and his lawyer to sign. *Id.*

Mr. King died in an unrelated motor vehicle wreck seven days after mediation. The mediation was June 2, 2016. *Id.* He died June 9th. (5/1/18 Or.pp.5 & 6, ¶¶3 & 5).

Five days after Mr. King died, the lawyer for the employer and carrier wrote Mr. King's lawyer explaining the employer and carrier were evaluating how Mr. King's death affected "the settlement reached at mediation." (Clmt. APA 8, p.47). The check had already been sent to Mr. King's lawyer. (APA 9, p.48-49). The mediator had already filed his report with the commission noting the case was "settled." (APA 3, p.32). The employer and carrier had not yet sent the "Agreement and Release" for Mr. King's signature or his lawyer's signature. (Id.p.49). They placed a stop payment order on the settlement check. (Id.p.47).

Some time after that, Mr. King's lawyer filed a motion asking the commission's permission to file the written agreement from mediation. (Clmt. 3/29/18 PHB p.4, ¶6). In July of 2017 Mr. King's lawyer filed a formal hearing request with the commission at the commission's direction. *Id.*; see also (Clmt. 7/11/17 Form 50).

The personal representative of Mr. King's estate began participating in the litigation three months later, in October of 2017. (Mot. to Intervene & Postpone). The estate was not formally added to the case as a party until the appellate panel granted the estate's motion to intervene in April of 2019, (4/23/19 Or.), but the estate took part in the case throughout the proceedings at the commission, as did Mr. King's widow. See, e.g., (Our single comm. brief); (Our Form 30 and attachment); (Our appellants' brief).

The case ultimately went to a single commissioner for a hearing in March of 2018. (3/29/18 Tr.p.1). There were no witnesses. The hearing consisted of the lawyers stating their positions and answering the single commissioner's questions. (Id.pp.3-23).

Two months later, in May of 2018, the single commissioner issued an order finding the signed agreement from mediation was not enforceable. (5/1/18 Or.p.1).

Later that month, Mr. King's estate and his widow filed a timely request for the appellate panel to review the single commissioner's decision. (Our Form 30 and attachment). Mr. King's lawyer filed an identical request as well. (Gary's Form 30 and attachment). As they have done in this Court, the participants on Mr. King's side filed a joint brief supporting their position. (Our appellants' brief).

An appellate panel of commissioners heard the case in December of 2018. (12/17/18 Tr.p.1). The panel first issued an order April 23, 2019 fully affirming the single commissioner's decision; however, the order was re-issued with a small change on April 30, 2019 that is not relevant to the appeal. (4/30/19 Or.p.1 n.1). The change concerned the estate's status as a party. The estate was added by a prior, separate order. (4/23/19 Or.)

As noted above, the appellate panel fully affirmed the single commissioner's decision that the written agreement from mediation was not enforceable. (4/30/19 Or.p.12). The panel adopted the single commissioner's reasoning entirely. *Id.* The single commissioner, and the panel, held parties are free to "back out" and "rescind" any agreement to settle a case until a formal "Agreement and Release" is signed and filed with the commission. (Id.p.5, ¶7, p.7, ¶12, and p.9, ¶20). The commission also said there was nothing in its mediation regulations stating a written agreement from mediation would bind the parties. (Id.p.6, ¶9). And the commission further said it lacked the authority to enforce the agreement, stating administrative agencies have limited powers. (Id.p.6, ¶11).

The commission noted South Carolina has one (1) published appellate case involving this issue and mentioned that the case was decided before the legislature changed the statute on workers' compensation settlements. (Id.p.8, ¶16). In spite of that statutory change, the

commission held the prior case controlled this one and that the parties have “the right to withdraw” from a signed agreement until it is filed with the commission. *Id.*

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is found in section 1-23-380(5) of the South Carolina Code. See also *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981) (commission is an “agency” and subject to the Administrative Procedures Act). Per the statute, this Court may not substitute its judgment for the commission’s as to the weight of the evidence but may reverse when the decision is affected by an error of law, clearly erroneous, or arbitrary.

This case presents pure questions of law. Those issues are reviewed de novo. *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

### ARGUMENT

As noted at the beginning, there are three basic reasons this Court should reverse the commission. First, nothing in the Workers’ Compensation Act displaces basic contract law under which the agreement the parties signed at mediation would plainly be enforceable. Second, the reasons the commission gave for not enforcing the agreement are legally incorrect and do not make sense. Third, persuasive authority supports enforcement. Though there is a split of authority, enforcement is the better view.

**A. Nothing in the Workers’ Compensation Act displaces basic contract law under which the agreement signed at mediation would plainly be enforceable.**

The Workers’ Compensation Act has a statute on settlements. That statute says:

Nothing contained in this chapter may be construed so as to prevent settlements made by and between an employee and employer as long as the amount of compensation and the time and manner of payment are in

accordance with the provisions of this title. The employer must file a copy of the settlement agreement with the commission if each party is represented by an attorney. If the employee is not represented by an attorney, a copy of the settlement agreement must be filed by the employer with the commission and approved by one member of the commission.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-390 (Supp. \_\_\_\_).

This statute was revised by Act 111 of 2007. The statute previously required commission approval for all settlements. That statute had basically the same first sentence as the present statute, but then said “ A copy of any such settlement shall be filed by the employer with and approved by the Commission.” § 42-9-390 (1976). As noted above, the current statute says a settlement is simply *filed* with the commission if the injured worker has a lawyer. The commission does not evaluate settlement agreements for approval or disapproval unless the injured worker is pro se.

Nothing in this statute displaces basic contract law. In fact, the statute’s first sentence suggests settlements are encouraged since it instructs that “nothing” in the Workers’ Compensation Act may be construed as preventing settlements. The only statutory caveat is that the amount of compensation and the method of payment must conform to the Workers’ Compensation Act. Nothing in that caveat suggests there is any basis for invalidating a signed agreement that follows the Act’s requirements on compensation and payment. Indeed, focusing exclusively on the statute’s first sentence, the plain language means that so long as a written agreement does not conflict with the Act’s requirements on compensation and payment, the written agreement to settle is binding.

Moving past the first sentence, it seems evident that the 2007 amendment can only bolster the view that a written agreement would bind the parties in a case where the injured

worker was represented by counsel. As noted above, the pre-2007 statute required the commission to scrutinize settlements for approval. Now, the commission only “approves” agreements in cases where the injured worker does not have a lawyer.

The commission also has a series of regulations on settlements. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-801 to -805 (Supp. \_\_\_\_). The key regulation here is 67-803 involving settlements by an “Agreement and Final Release”—the document the agreement from mediation required these parties to execute. Subsection A of that regulation explains an “Agreement and Final Release” must contain the case’s caption, the facts at issue, the date of the injury, the amount of payment, and signatures. Subsection B(2), like the statute, explains the executed agreement is filed with the commission’s claims department. There is no “approval” process in such a case. The parties are bound by their signatures.

Nothing in the regulations displaces basic contract law. It is certainly possible to read the regulations to say a case is not technically “settled” until the “Agreement and Final Release” is signed and filed, but that is a different question than whether a signed agreement *to* settle like the agreement the parties executed here is enforceable. The “Agreement and Final Release” is the formal document that officially brings litigation to a close. Here, the parties signed a written agreement requiring them to execute that formal document. The regulations do not contain any legal justification for holding that agreement invalid.

This signed agreement would plainly be enforceable under basic contract law. The respondents promised to pay Mr. King a lump sum of money in exchange for a release from any claims he might have against them. That agreement complies with Rule 43(k), SCRPC, because it was signed by the parties and their counsel. Though Rule 43(k) does not

technically apply—the rules of civil procedure apply to depositions in administrative cases but do not apply more broadly, see S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-320(C) (Supp.\_\_\_\_)—it ought to say *something* that this agreement would plainly be enforceable in civil court. It also ought to say something that the Workers’ Compensation Act does not have a specific requirement like Rule 43(k); nothing in the Act says an agreement between the parties is not binding unless additional requirements are met. This is, after all, why people sign written agreements at the conclusion of a successful mediation. See *Galloway v. Regis Corp.*, 325 S.C. 541, 547, 481 S.E.2d 714, 717 (Ct. App. 1997) (refusing to enforce an alleged oral agreement to settle from mediation). If a written agreement like this is not enforceable, it is worthless.

Again, a straightforward reading of the statute and regulations is that so long as a written agreement to settle does not conflict with the Act’s requirements on compensation and payment, the written agreement is binding. Nothing in the Workers’ Compensation Act displaces basic contract law under which the agreement the parties signed here would plainly be enforceable.

**B. The reasons the commission gave for not enforcing the agreement are legally incorrect and do not make sense.**

The commission gave several reasons for not enforcing the agreement the parties signed at mediation. Those reasons are legally incorrect and do not make sense.

First, the commission seemed to send a bit of a mixed message. At one point it found parties are free to “back out” until the formal agreement and final release “is signed.” (4/30/19 Or.p.5, ¶7). Later, however, it found signing *and filing* were required before an agreement would be binding. (Id.p.6, ¶12 & p.9, ¶20).

It is difficult to understand why there would be a meaningful difference between a signed agreement and release that is not filed and a signed agreement and release that *is* filed. Filing is just the step that formally ends the case. There is no basis in law for holding that filing the agreement is what makes the agreement binding. The law normally binds people to an agreement once the agreement is signed.

It is also difficult to understand what the sensible basis could be for meaningfully distinguishing between the signed agreement the parties have here and a signed “Agreement and Final Release.” Again, the signed agreement and release will formally end the case, but that is a different question than whether parties can make an enforceable promise to sign such a document.

Second, the commission said there was nothing in its mediation regulations stating a written agreement from mediation would bind the parties. (Id.p.6, ¶9). That is not remarkable; nothing in the general ADR rules says anything about a signed agreement from mediation being binding. The reason signed agreements like this are binding is that basic law enforces such agreements. And though not dispositive, it is worth mentioning that the official form the commission developed and published for mediators to use when reporting the result of mediation has a place for the mediator to mark where “[t]he following issues mediated and are settled or contested as indicated below[.]” (Clmt. APA 3, p.32). The only options for the mediator to mark are “settled” or “contested.” *Id.* At a minimum, this is some support for the argument that agreements at mediation can be binding.

Third, the commission found it lacked the authority to enforce the agreement, stating administrative agencies have limited powers. (Id.p.6, ¶11). This is a mis-statement of the

law. The commission has limited jurisdiction, but this Court and the Supreme Court have observed that all tribunals are vested with the inherent power to administer matters coming within the scope of the tribunal's jurisdiction. *Spivey ex rel. Spivey v. Carolina Crawler*, 367 S.C. 154, 160 n.1, 624 S.E.2d 435, 438 n.1 (Ct. App. 2005); *In re Crawford*, 205 S.C. 72, 95, 30 S.E.2d 841, 850 (1944) (concurring opinion joined by majority of the court). The commission has exclusive original jurisdiction over workers' compensation cases. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-180 (2015). For that power to mean anything, it must include the power to enforce an agreement to settle a case if the parties enter into such an agreement.

Finally, the commission held South Carolina's one (1) published appellate case involving this issue controlled even though that case dealt with the prior version of the relevant statute. (4/30/19 Or.p.8, ¶16).

While there would be no argument to enforce the agreement here if the statute had not changed in 2007, it is difficult to understand how the commission could reasonably conclude a case based on the old statute controlled a case based on the revised statute. This Court's 1984 decision *Mackey v. Kerr-McGee Chemical Co.* relied heavily on the fact that the commission was required to review settlement agreements for approval. 280 S.C. 265, 312 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 1984). This Court noted two justifications for the approval requirement: a neutral official (the commissioner) would consider the injured worker's interest and the agreement would be elevated to the status of a judicial decree. *Id.* at 268-269, 312 at 567. Then, this Court quoted a Rhode Island case, explaining:

Until it has received the express approval of the administrative officer, who is charged with the enforcement of the [worker's] compensation act, and who is vested with a substantial portion of judicial power in the disposition of

cases arising under it, the agreement is totally lacking in contractual force even though the parties thereto have done all that would be necessary to constitute a binding contract between them under the law of contracts.

*Id.* at 269, 312 at 567.

That process does not exist anymore. There is no review by an objective official. When the injured worker has a lawyer, nobody is vested with a substantial portion of judicial power in disposing of a proposed settlement. The parties sign an agreement, file it with the commission, and the commission provides the employer's attorney with an official copy of the agreement. Reg. 67-803 B(2)(b). That is all there is to it.

*Mackey* is also different from this case in another important respect. The opinion explains those parties never signed a written agreement to settle. The parties allegedly reached an oral settlement immediately before a hearing and the lawyers told the hearing officer that the case had settled, but when the agreement was reduced to writing the claimant refused to sign. *Id.* at 267, 312 S.E.2d at 566. The opinion's concluding paragraph explains that the commission's regulations contemplate a settlement agreement being in writing, that such a requirement "anticipates" the agreement will be signed, and that such an agreement will not be binding until it is signed. *Id.* at 271, 312 S.E.2d at 568.

The agreement here was in writing and signed by everyone; even the mediator. It is in all material respects indistinguishable from the agreement and final release defined by the regulations. The only thing the agreement lacks that the regulation requires is a statement of the facts at issue as well as the date and nature of the injury. See Reg. 67-803 A.

Again, none of the reasons the commission gave for declining to enforce the parties' written agreement withstand scrutiny. This is a signed agreement. It ought to be enforceable.

**C. The better-reasoned persuasive authorities support enforcement.**

Jurisdictions are split on whether and when parties have the right to back out of settlements in workers' compensation cases.

Some cases hold that settlement agreements are not binding until they have been approved by the appropriate authority. These cases are typically grounded in statutory language instructing that settlements must be presented to the authority for approval.

Other cases hold that parties are bound by the documents they sign and that events like the injured worker's unexpected death do not provide grounds for rescinding an enforceable agreement. Appellants (perhaps not surprisingly) believe these cases are right.

A sample of the cases that do not enforce agreements unless approved includes cases from Alabama, Arkansas, Kansas, and Louisiana. In Alabama, a statute says a settlement agreement is not valid "for any purpose" unless a judge determines it is in the best interest of the employee or the employee's dependent. *Tate v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 185 So. 3d 468, 471 (Ala. Civ. App. 2015). In Arkansas, a statute requires a joint petition from the parties and explains the commission should conduct a hearing and take testimony. *Odom v. Tosco Corp.*, 672 S.W.2d 915, 917 (Ark. Ct. App. 1984).

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