THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 07 2020

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

SC Court of Appeals

WCC File No. 1116698
Appellate Case No. 2018-001294

Ex Parte: Robert Horne, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Gus A. King,
and Laura King Appellants,

In Re: Gus A. King, Claimant Appellant,

v.

Pierside Boatworks, Employer,
and PMA Insurance Group, Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

R. Daniel Addison #6793
ADDISON LAW GROUP, LLC
Post Office Box 7637
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803)227-2346

Attorney for Pierside Boatworks and
PMA Insurance Group

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

Appellants argue that this Court should hold that the Mediation Agreement in this case is binding and enforceable. In fact, Appellants argue that all such agreements should be binding and enforceable despite the lack of a statutory or regulatory enforcement mechanisms and contrary to established practice within the commission. The commission correctly rejected this argument in holding that only an Agreement and Final Release, prepared in conformity with the commission's regulations and filed with the commission, can be an enforceable agreement under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act.

1. South Carolina law does not authorize enforcement of a settlement agreement by the commission.

This issue was directly decided by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in Mackey v. Kerr-McGee Chemical, Co., 280 S.C. 265, 312 S.E.2d 565 (Ct. App. 1984). In that case, the defendants sought enforcement of a settlement agreement entered into with the claimant immediately prior to a hearing on the claim. The parties, at the call of the case, announced to the hearing commissioner that the case had been settled and the hearing was cancelled. The claimant later rejected the settlement and refused to sign the written settlement agreement. At a subsequent hearing, the single commissioner held that, as a matter of law, the settlement was binding on the claimant. On appeal, a circuit court judge reversed the commission's decision and this Court affirmed. As stated in that case, "Certainly, an employee or his dependents who had agreed to accept a settlement could withdraw from that agreement at any time prior to verification and filing, and we see no reason why the employer

and his insurer cannot do the same thing.” Mackey, 280 S.C. at 270, 312 S.E.2d at 568 (quoting with approval, *Pepitone v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 346 So. 2d 266 (La. Ct. App. 1977)) (emphasis added). Thus, this case firmly establishes the rights of parties to withdraw from a settlement agreement at any time prior to that agreement being filed with the commission.

Appellants contend that Mackey is no longer valid because it was decided prior to the 2007 amendments to the Act. Prior to 2007, the Act provided:

A copy of the settlement agreement *must be filed by the employer with and approved* by only one member of the commission if the employee is represented by an attorney. If the employee is not represented by an attorney, a copy of the settlement agreement must be filed by the employer with and approved by four members of the commission.

S.C. Code §42-9-390 (Supp. 2006) (emphasis added). With the 2007 amendments, this section was amended to provide:

The employer *must file a copy* of the settlement agreement with the commission if each party is represented by an attorney. If the employee is not represented by an attorney, a copy of the settlement agreement must be filed by the employer with the commission and approved by one member of the commission.

S.C. Code §42-9-390 (2015) (emphasis added). While the General Assembly removed the requirement for commission “approval” of settlement agreements, it did not remove the requirement for “filing” such agreements. Thus, the reasoning cited in Mackey remains consistent with the current iteration of the Act. See Mackey, 280 S.C. at 270, 312 S.E.2d at 568 (“an employee or his dependents who had agreed to accept a settlement could withdraw from that agreement at any time prior to verification *and filing . . .*”) (emphasis added); see also Haley v. Tire Kingdom, 2013 WL 8507874 (Ct. App. April 24, 2013) (“We found no evidence in the record that Haley executed the clincher agreement or that Tire Kingdom filed it with the commission. Without these formalities, the agreement cannot be enforced.”). As such, Mackey remains good law in South Carolina and expressly provides that a party may withdraw from a settlement at any time prior to execution of a compliant agreement and that

agreement being *filed* with the commission. Since neither was done in this case, Defendants' withdrawal from the settlement precludes any action to enforce the agreement reached at mediation.

2. Contract law has no application to proceedings under the Workers Compensation Act.

Appellant argue, without authority, that “basic contract principles” governs the enforcement issue in this case. This argument, however, was expressly rejected in Mackey and nothing in the 2007 amendments changes this. In Mackey, the employer argued the same position asserted by Appellants in this case. This Court, by adopting the decision of the Circuit Court, held:

Counsel for the employer/carrier argues that because the claimant was represented by competent counsel and there had been shown no fraud or mistake in the acceptance of the offer, claimant is bound by the agreement. In support of this proposition, he cites [citations omitted]. *This argument is without merit.* These cases did not involve a worker's compensation claim, and more importantly, were decided on principles of general contract law. Contract law principles are inapplicable here because §42-1-310 provides that employee claims for compensation are governed exclusively by the worker's compensation act.

Mackey, 280 S.C. at 270, 312 S.E.2d at 568 (emphasis added); see also S.C. Code §42-1-540

(“The rights and remedies granted by this Title . . . shall exclude all other rights and remedies . . . at common law or otherwise, on account of such injury, loss of service or death.”). As stated by the South Carolina Supreme Court:

The Workers' Compensation Act provides an *exclusive system of compensation in derogation of common law rights* and is not cumulative or supplemental thereto, but wholly substitutional. The compensation afforded by the Act is statutory in character, and the right of any claimant thereto is dependent upon the terms and conditions of the statute. These include the procedures for adjudicating a compensation claim as well as the terms and conditions of substantive entitlement.

Estate of Covington by Montgomery v. AT & T Nassau Metals Corp., 304 S.C. 436, 439, 405 S.E.2d 393, 394 (1991) (citations omitted, emphasis added). Neither the 2007 amendments to the Act, nor any subsequent case law, have changed the fundamental principal that all rights and benefits established by the Act are governed by the Act exclusively. Based on these authorities, common law contract principles have no application to the issues in this appeal and afford Appellants no support

for their position that the commission or this Court can enforce a settlement agreement reached at mediation but rescinded prior to the execution and filing of an Agreement and Final Release.

3. The Commission cannot compel Defendants to execute and file a clincher.

In their brief, Appellants argue that the commission and this Court have the authority to compel Respondents to prepare a clincher agreement so that it may be executed and filed in accordance with the regulations. In making this argument, Appellants effectively concede that the mediation agreement does not meet the requirements of the Act and cannot be filed with the commission or enforced as is. See Appellants' Brief to Appellate Panel, ("Appellants are not asking to *file* the mediation agreement and have it approved as a clincher even though it does not meet the requirements of a clincher.") (emphasis in original). (R. p. 81 lines 5-8). Appellants' position would require the commission to exercise authority not granted to it under the Act in order to compel Respondents to create and file a clincher to resolve a claim that has abated and comply with a settlement that has been rescinded. There is simply no statutory or case law authority for such an unprecedented order.

Under the Act, parties are free to enter into voluntary settlements. See S.C. Code §42-9-390. Notwithstanding the requirement that such agreements "must" be filed with the commission, the commission's regulations specify what must be included in such agreements. The regulations authorize the parties to agree to settle a claim "by signing an Agreement and Final Release (clincher)." S.C. Code Regs. § 67-801(A). The regulations further specify the content of a clincher. See S.C. Code Regs. § 67-803. These regulations require the parties to "agree to the terms of a settlement by entering into an Agreement and Final Release" that includes: (1) the caption of the claim, (2) statement of the facts, (3) the date and nature of the injury; (4) the amount of the settlement and terms of payment; and (5) the signature of the claimant. It is undisputed that the mediation agreement at issue does not meet these requirements. Nevertheless, despite the fact that the commission's regulations specify that these are the requirements for agreeing to the terms of a settlement, Appellants

contend that the commission has the authority to compel the creation of a clincher after the settlement agreement has been rescinded and after the claimant has died. No such authority exists.

It is clear that the commission, as a creation of statute, is imbued with only those powers conveyed by statute. See e.g., Bazzle v. Huff, 319 S.C. 443, 445, 462 S.E.2d 273, 274 (1995) (“An administrative agency has only such powers as have been conferred by law and must act within the authority granted for that purpose.”). The commission correctly held that the filing of a clincher is an explicit statutory requirement under the Act. The commission further correctly held that no clincher was ever executed in this case and, therefore, there was nothing to file. The Commission was also correct in noting that the commission rules on mediations do not provide for any enforcement mechanism of settlements reached at mediation. Nowhere does the Act provide that the Commission has the authority to compel a party to formalize and execute a clincher that the party does not agree to. In fact, as noted above, South Carolina permits a party to rescind a settlement agreement at any time prior to the execution and filing of the clincher. See Mackey, 280 S.C. at 270, 312 S.E.2d. Appellants understandably have an interest in seeking to enforce this mediation agreement but the Act and the Commission regulations simply do not provide the authority to do so.

4. The majority rule in other jurisdictions is that settlement agreements lacking statutory compliance are not enforceable.

The South Carolina case law discussed above is consistent with the general rule that workers' compensation settlements must be followed to the letter before they are binding. See 13 Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law § 132.06 (“If the statute requires that a settlement have Commission approval, a settlement lacking such approval amounts to nothing more than a voluntary payment of compensation. Generally, the statutory requirements for obtaining approval must be followed to the letter.”) (emphasis added). This is consistent across other jurisdictions as well. For example, in Barncord v. State, Dep't of Transp., 4 Kan. App. 2d 368, 606 P.2d 501 (Kan Ct. App. 1980), aff'd sub nom. 228 Kan. 289, 613 P.2d 670 (1980), the Court of Appeals of Kansas held that settlement

provisions were unenforceable because the agreement between the parties was not approved by the Director of the Workmen's Compensation Fund or otherwise in a form recognized under Kansas law. Barncord, at 373, 606 P.2d at 506 ("The parties are not bound by an agreement as to compensation unless the agreement is properly approved in accordance with the statutory provisions."); see also, Facchine v. W.C.A.B. (Pure Carbon Co. & PMA Grp.), 883 A.2d 720, 723 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2005) (approving Worker's Compensation Judge's decision to deny settlement agreement as it did not comply with statutory requirements); Lebid ex rel. Lebid v. W.C.A.B. (Cty. of Chester), 771 A.2d 79 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2001) (settlement not in compliance with state's workers' compensation act deemed null and void).

While many of the cases addressing this issue involve statutes that require Commission approval of settlement agreements, the principal consideration is compliance with statutory formality, not the significance of approval per se. In addition to failing to show that South Carolina's statutory and regulatory requirements support enforcement of the Mediation Agreement in this case, Appellants' cited authorities are factually distinguishable from this case and do not support their position. For example, in Schuck & Sons Const. v. Indus. Comm'n of Ariz., 963 P.2d 310, 311 (Ct. App. 1998), the agreement at issue was actually executed and filed with the Commission prior to the death of the claimant. In finding that the agreement was enforceable, the Arizona court noted that the validity and enforceability of settlement agreements "must be determined according to contract principles." Schuck, 963 P.2d at 313. As discussed above, South Carolina has expressly rejected this rule of construction.

Similarly, in B. Frank Joy Co. v. Isaac, 636 A.2d 1016 (Md. 1993), the employee and employer entered into a settlement agreement and submitted that agreement to the commission for approval. In affirming the enforcement of the agreement, the court noted that the Maryland statute required approval of an agreement in order to be enforceable but stated:

That does not mean, however, that the parties have total freedom to renege a valid bilateral agreement they have formally submitted for Commission approval in compliance with the Act. When they present a duly executed settlement agreement to the Commission, the parties thereby relinquish control of the matter to the supervisory powers, authority, and discretion bestowed upon the Commission. Then a party, acting unilaterally, does not have unfettered license to withdraw what that party has submitted in good faith.

Isaac, 636 A.2d at 1025 (emphasis added); see also Ferreira v. Arrow Mut. Liability Ins. Co., 447 N.E.2d 1258, 1259-60 (Mass. App. Ct. 1983) (“we believe that when an instrument with the finality of an agreement for redeeming liability has been executed and filed with the Division . . . the insurer may no longer unilaterally rescind the agreement.”) (emphasis added); Taylor v. Reliance Well Serv. Inc., 220 So.3d 260 (Miss. Ct. App. 2017) (“Reliance Well has not shown how Taylor’s death, after the settlement was already signed by the parties and submitted to the Commission, has any bearing on this issue.”); Rojo v. Loeper Landscaping, Inc., 759 P.2d 194 (N.M. 1988) (“[a]ll of the elements mandating approval and precluding disapproval were found to exist when the agreement was presented to the hearing officer . . .”).

In this case, South Carolina law expressly requires the execution and filing of a clincher, signed by the claimant and containing the regulatory prescribed information. Absent compliance with those statutory and regulatory requirements, the agreement is not final and the commission lacks the authority to enforce it.

5. The Single Commissioner correctly ruled that parties retain the right to rescind any agreement not entered into with the formalities of the Act and filed with the Commission.

Appellants contend that allowing parties to “back out” of an agreement reached at mediation would render such agreements “not really worth anything and the value of the mediation process is diminished.” It is Appellants’ contention that parties sign written settlement agreements at the conclusion of a successful mediation due to the “guarantee of enforcement.” As with the general discussion above on the enforceability of the mediation agreement, it is important to note that the Commission’s regulations on mediation do not provide for any “guarantee of enforcement” of any